Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 1 of 43

FILED 12-21-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

No. 2022AP001555

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

 $Plaintiff ext{-}Respondent,$

vs.

JUSTIN J. KAHLE,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Waukesha County The Honorable Judge J. Arthur Melvin III Presiding Case No. 2021CT000741

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, JUSTIN J. KAHLE

BRADLEY W. NOVRESKE

State Bar No. 1106967

ANTHONY D. COTTON

State Bar No. 1055106

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

KUCHLER & COTTON, S.C.

1535 E. Racine Ave. Waukesha, WI 53186 T: (262) 542-4218 F: (262) 542-1993

ISSUES PRESENTED

I.

A seizure occurs when, in view of all the circumstances surrounding an encounter with the police, a "reasonable person" would believe that they were not free to leave. A seizure may be effectuated by means of physical force or through an officer's show of authority. Recent Wisconsin cases, relying on dicta in *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98 ¶ 65, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W. 2d 729, have held that under Wisconsin case law, a police spotlight being directed at an individual is "one indic[um] of police authority" but, by itself, "is not necessarily" a "show of authority" that constitutes a seizure. The Supreme Court in Young did not reach the issue of whether the use of a spotlight in that case constituted a seizure, but opined that it would be "reluctant to conclude" a seizure occurred. This dicta, combined with the Young court's citation with approval to the Idaho Supreme Court case State v. Baker, 141 Idaho 163, 107 P. 3d 1214 (2004), has led some Wisconsin courts to believe that the use of a spotlight in a police encounter alone can never be a sufficient show of authority to result in a seizure. Young seems to foreclose that assumption by stating that directing a police spotlight at an individual by itself is not necessarily a show of authority sufficient to result in a seizure.

Courts have extrapolated from the dicta in *Young* to conclude that a "reasonable person" would feel free to disregard the officer and leave upon being illuminated by a high-intensity police spotlight. This conclusion is logically consistent with the *Young* court's reluctance to find that a seizure had occurred, but is not the basis articulated by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Young* nor the Idaho Supreme Court in

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 8 of 43

Baker for their reluctance. Young and Baker explicitly based the conclusion that the use of police spotlights alone was not necessarily sufficient to constitute a seizure on policy concerns—namely, the courts' desire to avoid finding a seizure where doing so would discourage police conduct that has the dual-purpose of ensuring police safety during interactions with citizens.

- A. Does an officer's use of a high-intensity spotlight constitute a seizure where the light is aimed directly at the front windshield of a vehicle, directly at a driver, from one car length away? If not, under what circumstances would an officer's use of a high-intensity spotlight, by itself, constitute a seizure under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution or Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution¹?
- B. How should courts weigh the use of a police spotlight in carrying out an analysis under *Mendenhall*, *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 552 (1980), where the use of the spotlight, by itself, would lead a reasonable person to believe that they were not free to leave, but holding that a seizure occurred could discourage police use of spotlights in situations where their use might increase officer safety?

II.

The Supreme Court of Wisconsin has recognized that the "reasonable person" concept central to the *Mendenhall* analysis is a legal fiction, as the fact that defendants often consent to searches of areas that

-

¹ As the scope of Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution has been interpreted to largely mirror the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, this brief will reference both as the Fourth Amendment unless specification is necessary in the context.

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 9 of 43

reveal incriminating evidence demonstrates that people often do *not* feel free to decline an officer's request, even absent a manifest showing of authority. *County of Grant v. Vogt*, 2014 WI 76 ¶31 n.14, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 850 N.W. 2d 253. The *Vogt* court highlighted the inherent tension between the need for an objective standard and the reality that people tend to defer to a symbol of authority no matter how it is manifested, resulting in a "reasonable person" test which bears little resemblance to reality.

A. Is a defendant's right to be free from unreasonable seizures violated by police conduct which would cause a typical, law-abiding citizen to believe they were not free to leave the encounter, even where such conduct would not cause the fictional "reasonable person" —as developed by case law influenced by outcomedeterminative policy decision and ungrounded from the expected behavior of actual individuals in society— to believe they were not free to leave?

III.

In this case, the trial court focused its analysis entirely on two factors: the positioning of the officer's squad car in relation to Mr. Kahle's truck, and the officer's use of a high-intensity police spotlight aimed directly at Mr. Kahle through the front windshield from approximately one car length away. The court held that the combination of the placement of the squad car and use of the spotlight did not result in Mr. Kahle's seizure. In performing the analysis, the trial court did not make reference to any other factors that have been identified by *Mendenhall* as relevant to the analysis.

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 10 of 43

A. Did the trial court misapply the law to the facts by failing to analyze the totality of the circumstances, focusing only on two factors?

B. At the point Officer Liu knocked on Mr. Kahle's window, would a reasonable person have believed that they were free to leave in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident?

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 11 of 43

ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Kahle welcomes oral arguments and the opportunity for publication in order to provide clarity to this developing area of Fourth Amendment law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Factual Background.

In the late hours of May 31, 2021, sometime prior to 12:15 a.m., Mr. Kahle parked his pickup truck in the nearly-empty parking lot of a local Pick 'n Save grocery store. (R. 32, 6:18-7:13; A-App. 17). He remained in the parking lot with his running lights on, and sat in his vehicle for a period of time. (R. 32, 15:25-16:5; A-App. 26). The parking lot was well-illuminated, as the store had night-shift stockers working that evening despite the store being closed to the public. (R. 32, 6:22-7:5; A-App. 17).

At approximately 12:15 a.m., while Mr. Kahle was sitting in his vehicle, Officer Aeriond Liu of the Village of Oconomowoc Lake Police Department noticed his truck in the parking lot. (R. 32, 7:6-13; A-App. 18). Officer Liu was on routine patrol driving a marked squad car and dressed in his full police uniform and duty belt, and happened to be in the vicinity of the Pick 'n Save. (R. 32, 13:15-17; 20:4-21:3; A-App. 24). There were no reports regarding Mr. Kahle or his truck driving problematically, no citizen reports or 911 calls reporting his vehicle for parking in the Pick 'n Save lot, and no request for assistance or concern expressed by the overnight stocking staff working at the store that evening. (R. 32, 13:18-14:6; A-App. 24).

Upon noticing Mr. Kahle's truck, Officer Liu went to speak with the night-shift employees outside the Pick 'n Save having a smoke break. (R. 32, 7:1-8l; A-App. 18). He asked them about Mr. Kahle's truck, which they indicated had been in the parking lot for "a while" but otherwise did not express any concern about or interest in. (R. 32, 14:7-20; A-App. 25).

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 13 of 43

Officer Liu did not ask the employees to clarify what was meant by "a while." (R. 32, 14:21-15:4; A. App. 25).

After speaking with the night-shift employees, Officer Liu returned to his marked squad car, drove it towards Mr. Kahle's truck and parked nose-to-nose with the squad car facing the front of Mr. Kahle's truck. (R. 32, 15:21-17:1; A-App. 26). There was approximately one car's length between Mr. Kahle's truck and Officer Liu's squad car. (R. 32, 17:5-7; A-App. 28). At this point Officer Liu turned on his high-intensity spotlight and shined it directly into Mr. Kahle's windshield; Officer Liu's headlights were also illuminated and pointed at the front of Mr. Kahle's truck. (R. 32, 16:12-17:17, A-App. 27). Officer Liu testified that the purpose of using the spotlight was to illuminate the cabin of the vehicle to ensure that he could safely approach to make contact with the occupants, and that it also served the purpose of disabling the driver by making it impossible to see him as he approach Mr. Kahle's truck. (R. 32, 17:18-25; A-App. 28).

Once the spotlight was aimed at Mr. Kahle through the windshield, Officer Liu approached the truck. (R. 32, 10:10-19; A-App. 21). He was wearing a standard police uniform, with a firearm affixed to his duty belt, and a vest with "Police" in a reflective type on the front and the back. (R. 32, 20:4-21:3; A-App. 31). Officer Liu approached the truck on the passenger's side, and first noticed Mr. Kahle looking out the driver's window waiting for Officer Liu, expecting him to be approaching from that side. (R. 32, 10:18-11:3; A-App. 21). Officer Liu knocked on the passenger-side window to announce himself, and Mr. Kahle at that point opened the passenger-side window to speak with Officer Liu. (R. 32, 10:18-11:13; A-App. 21). Mr. Kahle did not attempt to drive away, put

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 14 of 43

the vehicle in gear, or otherwise move the vehicle in any manner; Officer Liu testified that the vehicle did not move from where it was parked at any point between his initial observation of the vehicle at 12:15 a.m. and the point that he made contact with Mr. Kahle. (R. 32, 8:22-9:16; A-App, 19). After the window was down and Officer Liu began speaking with Mr. Kahle, he observed signs of intoxication. Mr. Kahle was ultimately arrested on suspicion of operating while under the influence.

II. Procedural History.

On June 3, 2021, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Mr. Kahle with Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence – 3rd Offense, in violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 346.63(1)(a), 346.65(2)(am)3, and 343.301(1g). (R. 3). On August 4, 2021, the State filed an amended criminal complaint adding Count 2, Operating with Prohibited Blood Alcohol Concentration – 3rd Offense. (R. 13).

On November 8, 2021, Mr. Kahle filed his motion to suppress the fruits of unreasonable search and seizure based on Officer Liu's lack of reasonable suspicion to believe that Mr. Kahle was engaged in illegal activity while parked in the Pick 'n Save parking lot when he seized Mr. Kahle. (R. 15; A-App. 4).

A motion hearing was held on January 31, 2021 during which Officer Liu testified about his interaction with Mr. Kahle. (R. 32; A-App. 12). Officer Liu testified that it was a fair assumption that Mr. Kahle was confused as to the direction he was approaching from because the high-intensity spotlight made it impossible for him to see an approaching officer. (R. 32; 17:18-25; A-App. 28).

The State argued that Mr. Kahle was not seized by Officer Liu and that the contact was a consensual encounter, relying on *Vogt*, 2014. The

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 15 of 43

State additionally relied on an unpublished opinion, $State\ v.\ Mullen$, Nos. 2019AP1187, 2019AP1188, unpublished disp. (WI App. May 20, 2020), 2020 WI App 41, ¶ 2, 392 Wis. 2d 909, 945 N.W. 2d 373. (R. 32; A-App. 12).

Mr. Kahle argued that *Vogt* was factually dissimilar to his encounter with Officer Liu, as *Vogt* did not involve the use of a high-intensity disabling spotlight; that the encounter was more analogous to the unpublished opinion in *State v. Evans*, No. 2020AP286-CR, unpublished disp. (WI App. January 28, 2021), 2021 WI App 14, 396 Wis. 2d 195, 956 N.W. 2d 468, which did involve the use of spotlights and headlights directed at the vehicle; and that Mr. Kahle's encounter was significantly dissimilar to *Mullen*. (R. 32, R. 17). Mr. Kahle additionally argued that the spotlight prevented him from knowing where Officer Liu was such that he could not have safely departed the encounter without the risk of hitting Officer Liu with his truck. (R. 32, R. 17).

Following the motion hearing, the trial court permitted Mr. Kahle to file a supplemental brief to address arguments raised by the State at the motion hearing. That supplemental brief was filed on February 1, 2022. (R. 17; A-App. 6).

On February 25, 2022, the Hon. J. Arthur Melvin, III signed a decision and order denying Mr. Kahle's motion on the basis that Officer Liu's squad placement and spotlight use, taken together, was not a seizure. (R. 18; A-App 1). The court held that the illumination of Mr. Kahle's vehicle cabin with the spotlight was not itself a detention under Wisconsin law, and that the placement of the marked squad vehicle directly in front of and facing Mr. Kahle's truck was not itself a detention. *Id.* The court next considered whether the combination of these two

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 16 of 43

factors did result in a detention, and held that it did not. *Id.* The court held that Mr. Kahle's ability to safely move his vehicle was not prevented by the use of the disabling spotlight because Mr. Kahle could have pulled away as soon as the officer's squad car pulled up to his truck, prior to the spotlight being illuminated, or alternatively immediately after being illuminated on the assumption that Officer Liu would not have yet exited his vehicle. The court further held that Officer Liu's squad was parked far enough away from Mr. Kahle's truck that it did not prevent him from driving away. *Id.*

The court's decision did not directly perform the required analysis—whether under the totality of the circumstances, a reasonable person would have felt free to leave the encounter. *Id.* The decision discussed only two factors—the use of a high-intensity spotlight and the placement of the squad car—while silent on the numerous other facts that made up the "totality of the circumstances" as they existed for Mr. Kahle. *Id.* The court's decision therefore addressed only a very narrow question: whether the placement of the vehicle and the use of the spotlight, taken together and divorced from any of the remaining facts constituting the "totality of the circumstances," constituted a seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes. The court held that it did not. *Id.*

After Mr. Kahle filed his notice of appeal but prior to briefing, the Court of Appeals, District IV, decided *State v. Christensen*, No. 2022AP-500, unpublished disp., 2022 WI App 55 (WI App. September 9, 2022). In that case, the court upheld the trial court's determination that Christensen was seized by police in nearly identical circumstances to Mr. Kahle's encounter with police.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

While the Court of Appeals primarily serves an error-correcting function, it necessarily performs a second function under some circumstances, that of law defining and law development. The Court of Appeals' role of defining and developing the law is implicated when the court is required to "adapt [] the common law and interpret[] the statutes and federal and state constitutions in the cases it decides." *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 188-89, 560 N.W. 2d 246 (1997).

Whether evidence should have been suppressed is a question of constitutional fact. $State\ v.\ Van\ Beek$, 2021 WI 51, ¶ 22, 397 Wis. 2d 311, 960 N.W. 2d 32 (citing $State\ v.\ Coffee$, 2020 WI 53, ¶ 19, 391 Wis. 2d 831, 943 N.W. 2d 845). The reviewing court must "employ a two-step inquiry" to make that determination. Id. First, a reviewing court will uphold a circuit court's findings of historic fact unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. Second, the reviewing court must independently and objectively examine the facts known to the officer at the time of the alleged seizure, applying constitutional principles to them. Id.

ARGUMENT

I-A. Mr. Kahle was seized at the moment Officer Liu directed his high-intensity police spotlight through the front windshield directly at Mr. Kahle's face from the distance of one car length.

Mr. Kahle was seized at the moment that Officer Liu's conduct was such that an "innocent reasonable person" would not have felt free to disregard him and leave. In this case, that moment occurred when Officer Liu parked his squad car nose-to-nose with Mr. Kahle's truck with only one car length between them, activated his high-intensity

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 18 of 43

spotlight, and aimed the beam at Mr. Kahle's windshield.

As the United States Supreme Court has correctly noted, "encounters between citizens and police officers are incredibly rich in diversity." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 13 (1968). They run the gamut from "wholly friendly exchanges of pleasantries" to "hostile confrontations of armed men, involving arrests, injuries, or loss of life." Id. A police officer is free to approach a citizen on the street and ask questions of them or request identification without implicating the Fourth Amendment. Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991). In doing so, an officer may be "as aggressive as the pushy Fuller-brush man at the front door, the insistent panhandler on the street, or the grimacing street-corner carwindow squeegee man. All of these social interactions may involve embarrassment and inconvenience, but they do not involve official coercion." State v. Garcia-Cantu, 253 S.W. 3d 236, 243 (Tex. Crim. App. 2008).

It is only when the police officer "engages in conduct which a reasonable man would view as threatening or offensive even if performed by another private citizen" that such an encounter becomes a seizure. 4 Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure § 9.4(a), at 427 (4th ed. 2004). It is the display of official authority and the implication that this authority cannot be ignored, avoided, or terminated, that results in a Fourth Amendment seizure. *Garcia-Cantu*, 253 S.W. 3d at 243. The issue is "whether the surroundings and the words or actions of the officer and his associates communicates the message of 'We Who Must Be Obeyed." *Id*. In other words, a seizure occurs "when the officer, by means of physical force or a show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen." *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 552. A seizure differs from a search in

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 19 of 43

that it "deprives the seized individual of dominion over his or her person or property." *State v. Arias*, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 25, 311 N.W. 2d 358, 752 N.W. 2d 748. The conduct of the police during the encounter is the dispositive factor in determining whether a seizure has occurred. *State v. Van Beek*, 2021 WI 51 at ¶43.

When police approach a citizen on the street to attempt to engage in a consensual conversation, that person has the choice to refuse the officer's attempt to converse and retain his privacy, or respond by talking to the officer. Vogt, 2014 WI 76 at ¶ 14. "A dutiful officer does not make a mistake by presenting a person with that choice. Only when the officer forecloses the choice by the way in which he exercises his authority – absent reasonable suspicion or probable cause – does he violate the Fourth Amendment." Id. In analyzing a police-citizen interaction, a court "must examine the totality of the circumstances, seeking to identify the line between an officer's reasonable attempt to have a consensual conversation and a more consequential attempt to detain an individual." Id. at ¶ 3.

The use of a squad car's spotlight is a show of authority that may, depending on the circumstances, suffice to effectuate a seizure. *United States v. Johnson*, 874 F.3d 571, 574 (7th Cir. 2017) (seizure occurred when two squad cars drew up parallel to and behind the defendant's car and shined spotlights on the car, thus "impl[ying] that the occupants were not free to drive away"). Under Wisconsin case law, a police spotlight is "one indici[um] of police authority" but by itself does not necessarily rise to a "show of authority' that constitutes a seizure." *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d at 1, ¶ 65. While *Young* stood for the proposition that the use of a police spotlight did not *per se* result in a seizure, it did not

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 20 of 43

foreclose a scenario in which the use of a police spotlight alone was carried out in a way that did result in a seizure. In this case, Officer Liu's use of the police spotlight in this particular manner resulted in Mr. Kahle's seizure.

Mr. Kahle's case is an extreme example of the use of a highintensity police spotlight, differentiating it from the recent Wisconsin cases that address the use of spotlights. For example, in Young, the case that is often cited for the proposition that the use of a spotlight alone is never enough to result in a seizure, an officer driving a marked police vehicle approached a vehicle that was legally parked on the side of the road. Id. at \P 9. The officer decided to investigate the vehicle, which had 5 occupants who had been sitting in the same spot for nearly 10 minutes. Id. There was another car parked behind the suspicious vehicle, so the officer stopped his squad car in the street alongside the car behind Young's vehicle, situating himself behind and to the right of Young's vehicle. The officer then directed his spotlight at the vehicle from behind. Id. at 10. The court in Young did not decide whether that use of a spotlight was a seizure, as Young fled from the police and was only subdued after a pursuit. However, the Supreme Court opined, in dicta, that it would have been reluctant to find that a seizure had occurred based on the totality of the circumstances and despite the use of the police spotlight. *Id.* at ¶ 69.

Unlike in *Young*, Officer Liu positioned his squad nose-to-nose with Mr. Kahle's truck and directed the high-intensity spotlight beam at Mr. Kahle through the front windshield from a distance of one car length away. *Young* involved the use of a spotlight from the back of the vehicle to illuminate the car Young was riding in, but did not involve directing

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-21-2022 Page 21 of 43

the spotlight at Young's face from directly in front of him and in close proximity.

In the unpublished case *State v. Mullen*, relied on by the State, an officer observed Mullen pull into the parking lot of a closed bar at approximately 1:30 a.m. and exit his car. *Mullen*, 2020 WI App 41 at ¶ 2. The officer drove by a second time, then entered the parking lot. *Id.* He parked his squad car behind Mullen's parked vehicle, offset to the left and a "fair amount away" from Mullen's vehicle. *Id.* at ¶ 3. Mullen was out of his vehicle and standing on the curb next to the front of the bar. *Id.* at ¶ 4. The officer activated his high-intensity spotlight and aimed it at Mullen from where the squad was parked, and then approached Mullen on foot. The Court of Appeals ruled that Mullen was not seized in this scenario, despite the use of a high-intensity spotlight.

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