FILED
02-24-2023
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Appeal No. 2022AP001555 – CR

JUSTIN J. KAHLE,

Defendant-Appellant.

An Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence Entered by the Honorable J. Arthur Melvin, III, Circuit Judge, Branch 5, Waukesha County

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Susan L. Opper District Attorney Waukesha County

Melissa J. Zilavy
Assistant District Attorney
State Bar No. 1097603
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Officer Liu's conduct, under the totality of circumstances, did not amount to a seizure of defendant-appellant Kahle.

a. Relevant Law

Whether someone has been seized is a two-part standard of review. This court will uphold the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, but the application of constitutional principles to those facts is subject to de novo review. *County of Grant v. Vogt*, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 17, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 253.

"The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect people from unreasonable searches and seizures." *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729 (footnotes omitted). But, "not all police-citizen contacts constitute a seizure," so "many such contacts do not fall within the safeguards afforded by the Fourth Amendment." *Id*.

A seizure occurs when an officer by means of physical force or by a show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen. *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 552 (1980). A person is seized within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment if under all the circumstances surrounding the contact a reasonable person would have believed that he is not free to leave. *Id* at 554. "[P]olice questioning, by itself, is unlikely to result in a Fourth Amendment violation. *INS v. Delgado*, 466 U.S. 210, 216 (1984). While most citizens respond to a police request, the fact that people do so, and without being told they are free not to respond, does not eliminate the consensual nature of the response. *Id.*; *see also State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94, ¶ 23, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834. There is no seizure unless the encounter is "so intimidating as to demonstrate that a reasonable person would have believed he was not free to leave." *Delgado*, 466 U.S. at 216.

In determining whether a person has been seized, the court must replace the individual person with the model of a reasonable person and focus on the officer's conduct under the totality of the circumstances. *Vogt*, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 31. In *United*

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-24-2023 Page 9 of 16

States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554 (1980), the U.S. Supreme Court noted "[e]xamples of circumstances that might indicate a seizure, even where the person did not attempt to leave, would be the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request might be compelled." *Id.* at 554-55. "In the absence of some such evidence, otherwise inoffensive contact between a member of the public and the police cannot, as a matter of law, amount to a seizure of that person." *Id.* at 555.

The seizure/consensual encounter test is objective, but it is complicated by the fact that most people defer to a symbol of authority, no matter how it is manifested. Vogt, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 31. An officer's badge, however, does not by itself make a seizure. Id. A person's consent is no less valid because the person felt bound by ethical pressures not to disrespect an officer of the law. Id. The Vogt court, in supporting the conclusion that a uniformed police officer asking to speak to a citizen can be compatible with the definition of a consensual encounter, wrote:

Were it otherwise, officers would be hesitant to approach anyone for fear that the individual would feel "seized" and that any question asked, however innocuous, would lead to a violation of the Fourth Amendment.

Id.

For example, In County of Grant v. Vogt, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 54, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 253, an officer's contact with occupants of a parked car was not a seizure. In *Vogt*, an officer who was patrolling a small village during the early morning hours on Christmas saw a car pull into a parking lot next to a closed park. Id. at \P 4. The officer did not observe any traffic violations but thought the driver's (Vogt's) conduct was suspicious and "odd," given that it was Christmas and the park was closed. *Id.* at ¶ 5. The officer stopped his squad "behind Vogt's vehicle [and] a little off to the driver's side," leaving the headlights on and the engine running, but without activating the red and blue emergency lights. *Id.* at \P 6. Vogt's vehicle was still running, and the officer stated that he was not blocking Vogt's vehicle, though Vogt disagreed. *Id*. The officer, in full uniform and with his firearm holstered, approached the vehicle, and observed two occupants. *Id.* at \P 7. The officer rapped on the driver's window and motioned for Vogt to roll it down. Id. Vogt rolled down the window. Id. at ¶ 8. The officer asked Vogt what he was doing, and when Vogt answered, the officer observed that

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-24-2023 Page 10 of 16

Vogt's speech was slurred and that he could smell the odor of intoxicants coming from the vehicle. *Id.* From there, the officer investigated Vogt based on those observations, and ultimately arrested him for operating while intoxicated and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. *Id.* The Court held that an officer's parking near another person's vehicle, getting out, and knocking on the window is not necessarily a sufficient display of authority to cause a reasonable person to believe that he or she was not free to go. *Id.* at ¶ 38.

Additionally, the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 65 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729, noted that "[w]hen a marked squad car pulls up behind a car, activates emergency flashers, and points a spotlight at the car, it certainly presents indicia of police authority. Yet, not every display of police authority rises to a 'show of authority' that constitutes a seizure." The *Young* Court also recognized the longstanding principles of effective and safe law enforcement and how "it would be unreasonable to require that police officers take unnecessary risks in the performance of their duties." *Id.* ¶ 67 (quoting *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 23 (1968)).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Young* also explained "that many courts have concluded that the use of a spotlight is not a show of authority sufficient to effect a seizure. *See State of Idaho v. Baker*, 141 Idaho 163, 107 P.3d 1214, 1216–18 (2004) (use of spotlight is no seizure; collecting cases holding the same); *State of Washington v. Young*, 135 Wash.2d 498, 957 P.2d 681, 688–89 (1998) (finding that under the totality of the circumstances, illuminating the defendant with a spotlight does not a seizure make)." *Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 65 n.18. The Court also acknowledged that "spotlights are likely to be used at night." *Id*.

Furthermore, this Court can also look to an unpublished decision by this Court, *State v. Mullen*, No. 2019AP1187-CR, 392 Wis. 2d 909 (Ct. App. 2020), unpublished slip opinion, for persuasive value as similar issues and arguments were presented by the appellant in that case like the present case. In *Mullen*, at 1:20 a.m., the deputy observed Mullen's vehicle parked in the parking lot of a closed bar where there were no other vehicles or people in the area. *Id.* ¶¶ 3-4. The deputy parked his marked squad car a fair amount away and behind Mullen's vehicle, which allowed Mullen to leave.

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-24-2023 Page 11 of 16

Id. The deputy's squad car headlights were on, and the deputy also activated the squad's spotlight at Mullen. Id. \P 4-5. The deputy approached Mullen as he was out of his vehicle and standing on the curb in front of the bar. Id. \P 4, 6. The deputy had on a full Waukesha County Sheriff's Department uniform and his firearm on his hip. Id. \P 6. The deputy spoke with Mullen in a conversational tone, and observed that Mullen had a strong odor of intoxicants, had slurred speech, was repeating himself, and stated that he was not going to drive anymore and would get an Uber. \P 7. The deputy asked Mullen to perform standardized field sobriety tests, and Mullen had a hard time with one of the tests, and eventually refused all further testing. \P 8. Mullen was eventually arrested and subsequently convicted of OWI. Id. \P 9.

As with the present case, the appellant argued in *Mullen* that when the deputy pulled behind Mullen's vehicle in his marked squad and shined his spotlight on Mullen, Mullen was seized under the Fourth Amendment. *Id.* ¶ 10. The Court of Appeals disagreed and looked to long-established case law in its reasoning. The Court relied on *County of Grant v. Vogt*, and found that under the totality of circumstances, Mullen was not seized at the time the deputy made his initial contact. *Id.* ¶ 18 The Court explained that the deputy did not stop Mullen; the deputy did not display his weapon; there was only one deputy present; the deputy did not use any forceful commands; and the deputy did not touch or attempt to touch Mullen. *Id.*

The Court also specifically discussed the issue of whether the combination of a spotlight and approach turned this into a seizure and emphasized the analysis employed by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *State v. Young*, and how "many courts have concluded that the use of a spotlight is not a show of authority sufficient to effect a seizure." *Id.* ¶ 22 (quoting *Young*, 2006 WI at ¶ 65 n.18). The Court in *Mullen* explained the concern of "a rule that an officer's use of a spotlight creates a per se detention" as it "would discourage officers from using such lights when necessary for their safety or the safety of others." *Id.* ¶ 23. The Court's ultimate conclusion in *Mullen* was that "the use of a spotlight, where there was no effort to block Mullen's vehicle, no activation of emergency lights, and no verbal commands, does not amount to a seizure." *Id.* ¶ 25.

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-24-2023 Page 12 of 16

b. Applying Relevant Law to Kahle's Case

In this case, there is no reason to overturn long-established case law that permits these exact types of consensual contacts between police and citizens to investigate suspicious circumstances.

This Court must look at the totality of circumstances to determine if a reasonable person would have believed that Officer Liu's conduct was so intimidating that they were not free to leave. First, none of the examples of circumstances that might indicate a seizure enumerated by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Mendenhall* were present in this case. Officer Liu was the only officer on scene during the initial encounter. Officer Liu never physically touched Kahle. Officer Liu testified that his tone with Kahle during his initial contact was conversational, and his knock on Kahle's passenger side window was a light tap and not a forceful knock. Officer Liu had his weapon on his hip, but never displayed it or un-holstered it. Officer Liu did not activate his emergency lights on his marked police squad. Officer Liu was wearing his police uniform and easily identifiable as a police officer, but as noted in *Vogt*, an officer's badge by itself does not make a consensual encounter into a seizure.

Further, like the Court found in *Vogt* where the officer parked behind and to the side of the suspect vehicle, the positioning of Officer Liu's squad car did not transform this encounter into a seizure. The uncontroverted testimony presented at the motion hearing was that Officer Liu's squad car was parked in front of Kahle's vehicle, but there was about a car length in between them. Further, Kahle's vehicle was running and he would have been able to back up or go around Officer Liu's vehicle. This was not a situation where Kahle's vehicle was blocked in by Officer Liu's squad. There is no testimony on this record indicating that Kahle was unable to go around Officer Liu's squad car.

Additionally, like the Courts explained in *Young* and *Mullen*, Officer Liu using a spotlight on his squad to illuminate Kahle's car did not transform this encounter into a seizure. While Kahle makes an argument that this spotlight was blinding and shined directly in his face, that is not the testimony presented by Officer Liu or the facts presented before this

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-24-2023 Page 13 of 16

Court. It is important to remember that Kahle did not testify indicating that the light was directly in his face blinding him. Officer Liu explained that this was night time and had he not activated his spotlight, he would not have been able to see what was going on inside Kahle's vehicle. The lights in the parking lot did not illuminate the cabin well enough. Further, Officer Liu specifically explained that he wanted to illuminate the cabin of the vehicle for "[o]fficer safety, just to make sure if there's somebody in there that might be suffering a medical condition, might be ambushing me, it's just safer to see prior to approaching." (Motion Hearing Transcript, 32: 10.) Using the spotlight for the reason was acceptable and reasonable, and, as the Wisconsin Supreme Court explained in *Young* (quoting *Terry v. Ohio*), "it would be unreasonable to require that police officers take unnecessary risks in the performance of their duties."

Looking at the totality of circumstances, Officer Liu parking his squad car a car's length away from the front of Kahle's vehicle, turning on his spotlight, knocking on Kahle's passenger side window while in full police uniform, and speaking with Kahle in a conversational tone, was not so intimidating that it would make a reasonable person believe that they were not free to leave. The well-established case law in Wisconsin and the U.S. allows this kind of encounter to take place in order to investigate suspicious circumstances while also balancing the defendant's right to be free from unreasonable seizures and officer safety.

Case 2022AP001555 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-24-2023 Page 14 of 16

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court, like the Courts in *Vogt* and *Mullen*, find that Officer Liu's conduct did not constitute a seizure and affirm the trial court's decision denying Kahle's motion to suppress.